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ADDENDUM 2 
 

RFP2007-016-SB 
 

“Citywide Wireless Broadband Network” 
 
A. Corrections 
 

1) Section 1.6. 
 

The email address should read: 
 
sboehland@cabq.gov

 
2) Addendum 1 

 
The following vendors were inadvertently excluded from the pre-proposal attendee’s table: 
 

City Link 
Attn: John Brown 
505 Marquette, # LL-110A 
Albuquerque, NM  87102 
P: (505) 314-0891 
F: (505) 314-0891 
john@citylinkfiber.com 
 

Advanced Comm 
Attn: Lori Moore 
2417 Baylor 
Albuquerque, NM  87106 
P: (505) 235-6078 
F: (505) 244-3675 
lmoore@advtwoway.com 
 

Tropos Networks 
Attn: Cathleen Crowley 
555 Del Rey Avenue 
Sunnyvale, CA  94085 
P: (408) 595-6680 
F: N/A 
cathleen.crowley@tropos.com 
 

Layer 3 Arts 
Attn: Frank Hannatod 
4089 South 84th, Suite 233 
Omaha, NE  98127 
P: (402) 408-5951 
F: (402) 408-6902 
frank@layer3arts.com 
 

Proxim Wireless 
Attn: Ray Copeland 
2920 Forest Lane #203 
Dallas, TX  75243 
P: (504) 343-5175 
F: N/A 
rcopeland@proxim.com 
 

Mountain States Pipe & Supply 
Attn: Paul Carrell 
111 West Las Vegas 
Colorado Springs, CO   
P: (719) 634-5555 
paulc@msps.com 
 

 
B. Response to Questions 
 
The following questions were asked at the mandatory pre-proposal meeting for the above mentioned 
solicitation. 
 
1. Q: Who owns primarily the street lights? 
 A: Public Service Company of New Mexico (PNM) owns roughly 40% of the streetlights with the City 

owning the other 60%. 
   
2. Q: Any GIS data on who owns the street lights? 
 A: No. 
   
3.1. Q: There are new regulations on the ownership of 4.9 GHz by Homeland Security.  How do these 

regulations affect the City’s system? 
 A: The 4.9 GHz system proposed in the RFP is for Government Public Safety only.  The system will 

be separate and isolated from any frequency sharing with commercial, residential, or non-public 
safety agencies.  The system would have one ingress/egress point (Backhaul) for use of its current 
license.  The following is from the Public Safety Wireless Network organizations and explains the 
policy, licensing and operational rules for the 4.9GHz use. 
 
The Federal Communications Commission’s (FCC) allocation of 50 megahertz (MHz) of spectrum in 
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the 4.9 gigahertz (GHz) band permits public safety agencies to implement on-scene wireless 
networks for streaming video, rapid Internet and database access, and transfers of large files such 
as maps, building layouts, medical files, and missing person images. It also allows these agencies to
establish temporary fixed links to support surveillance operations. This allocation gives every 
jurisdiction in the country access to spectrum for deployable, interoperable, broadband 
communications. 

   
3.2. Q: What Are the Licensing Rules?  
 A: The FCC has implemented a geographic licensing scheme for mobile applications. A license 

grants a public safety agency authorization to use all 50 MHz of spectrum within its legal 
jurisdiction whether that jurisdiction is a state, town, city, or county. However, fixed point-to-point 
operations require an individual license for each station and can only be used for temporary 
operations on a primary basis, or for permanent operations on a secondary basis. Different 
licensees that are adjacent and collocated share all frequencies. These sharing agencies are 
responsible for interference prevention, mitigation, and resolution coordination.  

   
3.3. Q: What Are the Operational Rules? 
 A: The FCC concludes that Part 90 already contains the appropriate rules to guide fixed and mobile 

operations in the band. In addition, the FCC declines to adopt any standard for broadband 
technologies. However, the FCC does adopt Motorola’s sliding scale power limit proposal for 
mobile operations that allows 20 dBm (100 mW) for a 1 MHz signal, up to 33 dBm (2 watts) for a 
20 MHz signal with an antenna gain limit of 9 dBi. The equipment must also comply with the FCC’s 
radio frequency radiation exposure evaluation requirements. Existing emission limits rules for each 
technology apply. The FCC also imposes a maximum antenna gain of 26 dBi for point-to-point 
operations.  
 
The frequency utilization plan for the band located at 4940–4990 MHz consists of 10, 1-MHz 
channels and 8, 5-MHz channels that can be aggregated to a maximum channel width of 20 MHz. 
The Rules encourage the Regional Planning Committees (RPC) working on the 700 MHz band to 
coordinate the region’s frequency utilization plan. In an effort to avoid any interference, licensing of 
aeronautical use is permitted only through the FCC waiver process. 

   
4. Q: Will the network operator be excluded from offering premium services? 
 A: No.  Section 3.11.1. of the RFP 
   
5. Q: Does the ordinance require franchise agreement when using the right-of-way?  Would the use of 

right-of-ways in this RFP be affect by any franchise language in the ordinance? 
 A: Section 3.1.6. of the RFP provides that the City shall grant the successful Offeror non-exclusive 

permission to use municipal assets and not expect revenue from fees.  Section 3.17.1 requires the 
successful Offeror to obtain any required agreements, authorizations or approvals that may be 
necessary to secure the use of City Facilities.  Thus, the successful Offeror will need to enter into a 
franchise agreement for access to City Rights-of-way.  Such franchise agreement will document 
that the consideration involves the benefits derived by the City from the contract resulting from this 
RFP rather than a fee based on any revenues obtained by the successful Offeror. 

   
6. Q: Would 5.9 GHz (transportation related) be considered? 
 A: No.  Section 3.1.1. of the RFP 
   
7. Q: Is the mobile basic Internet service to include the RailRunner? 
 A: No – although the Offeror may propose connectivity/interface to that system. 
   
8. Q: What about non-City right-of-ways such as County and State? 
 A: The City of Albuquerque only controls the City owned Rights-of-way. 
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9. Q: Will City allow utilization of City-metered electrical power on City infrastructure. 
 A: Yes – This applies to City owned infrastructure only – if electrical circuits need to be extended or 

installed, the Offeror will be responsible for that cost. 
   
10. Q: What will be the access to leased buildings by the City, specifically roof access? 
 A: This will require coordination with appropriate City staff per Section  3.12.11 through and including 

Section 3.12.14, of the RFP. 
   
11. Q: What resources will be available from the City in regards to project management? 
 A: The City expects to have a Project Manager that will have assets available through matrix support 

from applicable departments. 
   
12. Q: What will be the acceptance criteria and process. 
 A: Offerors are to propose acceptance criteria and processes. 
   
13. Q: Is there currently in place a 4.9 GHz infrastructure? 
 A: No. 
   
14. Q: Does the City expect the Contractor to provide and pay for 4.9 GHz end user devices? 
 A: The Offeror may propose that they provide end-to-end connectivity per Section 3.1.1. of the RFP. 
   
15. Q: What is the number of public safety vehicles? 
 A: Approximately 1200 City owned public safety vehicles. 
   
16. Q: What is the expected roll-out schedule of 4.9 GHz devices in public safety vehicles? 
 A: The City of Albuquerque would install equipment in public safety vehicles and would be 

responsible for that schedule. 
   
17. Q: Who would install and support the 4.9 GHz devices in public safety vehicles? 
 A: The City of Albuquerque 
   
18. Q: What format(s) can coverage maps be provided? 
 A: Much of the city base map data is currently available on the City website in ESRI ‘shape file’ format 

for use in responding to this RFP. The successful bidder can also be provided the data in ESRI 
‘Personal geo-database’ format. Other ESRI formats can be provided, but not preferred, such as 
‘coverage export’ format, XML ‘Dataset’ or ‘Recordsets’. 

   
19. Q: Are City coverage maps currently available?  If so, where and in what format? 
 A: Yes, The City provides ESRI shapefiles of primary base map information in the “Data Downloads” 

section of its GIS website at http://www.cabq.gov/gis/download.html   
 
Primary base map information includes street network, parcel data, various political, jurisdictional 
boundaries and some specific site locations. 
 

   
20. Q: What will be the audit process to determine that stated coverage if factual? 
 A: In accordance with Sections 3.7.1. 3.7.2. and 3.7.3. of the RFP. 
   
21. Q: How would this deployment of 802.x.x. conflict with existing Wi-Fi networks? 
 A: Unknown, interference issues to be handled on a case-by-case basis. 
   
22. Q: Can a private entity opt-out of the wireless access? 
 A: There is no mandate for a private entity to subscribe to services provided by or resulting from this 

RFP. 
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23. Q: What is the voltage of street light poles? 
 A: The voltage varies from 120V to 480V.  Some lights are on circuits and others individually. 
   
24. Q: Can the Contractor install its own pole? 
 A: In accordance with Section 3.17.1. of the RFP. 
   
25. Q: Is there an ESRI coverage map for PNM lights and power poles? 
 A: While the City has an older copy of PNM street light information, it is not the intellectual property of 

the City and we can not distribute this information to other parties. To obtain the most accurate 
data, Street Light information should be obtained directly from PNM. 

   
26.  A representative of PNM attended the meeting and stated that all power consumed on PNM 

assets/poles must be metered. 
   
27. Q: Does PNM charge for its meter devices? 
 A: Yes. 
   
28. Q: Who is responsible to pay for the installation of meters? 
 A: In accordance with Section 3.17.1. of the RFP. 
   
29. Q: Can devices be co-located inside existing traffic control boxes?  If so, is the power in those traffic 

control boxes metered? 
 A: No – space is not available and access would be restricted. 
   
30. Q: Will the Contractor be allowed to tie in to the existing City backbone? 
 A: No – the City’s fiber backbone results from franchise agreements and the City is restricted from 

using the infrastructure for commercial or residential use. 
   
31. Q: What is the bandwidth capacity on that backbone? 
 A: 1 GHZ on the fiber backbone – the limiting bandwidth that ties into the backbone is 1.54 MHz. 
   
32. Q: The RFP appears to have Cisco propriety requirements.  Does the City require Cisco equipment? 
 A: There is no intent to mandate what equipment an Offeror would provide – the requirement is for 

reliability per Section 3.12.5. of the RFP. 
   
33. Q: Who does the City plan on interoperating with? 
 A: The Offerors project manager per Sections 3.2. and 3.3. 
   
34. Q: Does the City expect to connect cameras for real time video?   
 A: Not at this time. 
   
34.1 Q: If so what is the bandwidth of those cameras? 
 A: 4MHz 
   
35. Q: Does the implementation of the network be compliant with CALEA? 
 A: There is no requirement in the RFP to be accredited by The Commission on Accreditation for Law 

Enforcement Agencies (CALEA).  Offerors must comply with rules and regulations governing 
4.9GHz licensed frequency systems. 

   
36. Q: How the Network interact with current City-owned public access points?  How will the Sunport 

network be affected? 
 A: The current City free wireless access locations (except for the Sunport) may be discontinued if 

basic free wireless is available through the Offeror.  The Sunport will continue to be operated as a 
City provided location. 
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37. Q: How many public-access points are there in the City?  And what is their usage? 
 A: Public wireless access location may be found at http://www.cabq.gov/wifi/.  Usage is unlimited and 

free to the public. 
   
38. Q: How will the Network Operator be notified of emergencies? 
 A: In accordance with Section 3.13. of the RFP and Offeror’s Network Operations Center (NOC) 
   
39. Q: Are there any existing community programs with which the Network Operator would be expected to 

cooperate?  Who would provide any necessary hardware to the community programs? 
 A: In accordance with Section 3.16. of the RFP. 
   
40. Q: Will the use of local subcontractors be considered when applying Local Preference? 
 A: No.  To be considered for Local Preference the primary contractor must meet the requirements 

stated in Part 6 of the RFP. 
   
41. Q: Will State of New Mexico preference be considered? 
 A: If no offers are submitted which qualifies for local preference then State of New Mexico preference 

will be considered. 
   
42. Q: Who is the incumbent contractor(s) that currently provide(s) these services? 
 A: No current contractors. 
   
43.1. Q: What is the estimated value of this contract 
 A: In accordance with Section 3.1.1. and Section 2.2. of the RFP. 
   
43.2. Q: How much was budgeted for this program? 
 A: $0.00 has been budgeted. 
   
44. Q: What will be the duration of this contract? 
 A: In accordance with Section 1.18.3. 
   
45. Q: With regard to the mandatory pre-proposal conference, is it possible to participate in the 

conference by telephone? 
 A: Attendance for the mandatory pre-proposal conference for RFP2007-016-SB “Citywide Wireless 

Broadband Network” must be in person. 
   
46. Q: Will a list of attendees be made available in case we wish to work as a subcontractor to a prime 

bidder? 
 A: The sign-in sheet for the mandatory pre-proposal conference will be made available with the first 

addendum, which will be issued sometime after the meeting. 
   
47. Q: Will Transient Voltage Surge Suppression (TVSS) be required to protect Ethernet cabling between 

outdoor access points and downstream LAN/WAN equipment. 
 A: In accordance with Section 3.12.5. of the RFP, the prime contractor selected is responsible for 

reliability level of 99.999% for the backhaul tier and 99.9% for the access tier and will be 
responsible for any and all protection devices. 

   
48. Q: Will TVSS be required to protect electronic components connected to AC power feeds from utility 

power or the photocell? 
 A: In accordance with Section 3.12.5. of the RFP, the prime contractor selected is responsible for 

reliability level of 99.999% for the backhaul tier and 99.9% for the access tier and will be 
responsible for any and all protection devices. 
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49. Q: Is the City of Albuquerque planning or has considered fiber infrastructure buildout in addition to the 
desire for a W-Fi network. 

 A: This question is outside of the scope of the RFP and not relevant to this solicitation.  If the vendor 
would like to clarify the question in context of the RFP it may. 

   
50. Q: The vendor estimated roughly 55 square miles of open “un-usable” area and would like 

confirmation of both excluded area approximate size and total “usable” area in square miles to be 
covered within the city borders? 

 A: The intent of Section 3.7.3. of the RFP “Outdoor Coverage” is the have the same meaning as 
paragraph 3.7.1., meaning “inhabited” parts of the City. 

   
51. Q: What spectral analysis work has the City conducted to reach a reasonable technical conclusion 

that this project is technically possible and reasonable? 
 A: None by the City.  Offerors should conduct any analysis to ensure the project is possible and 

reasonable for them. 
   
52. Q: Where is the spectral analysis data for review by potential Offeror? 
 A: None available. 
   
53. Q: What fact of law or legal theory does the City rely upon to assure that this RFP is not in violation of 

State “anti-donation” laws? 
 A: The City expects to receive consideration from the Contractor in terms of Wi-Fi services.  As such, 

the City would not be in violation of the anti-donation clause of the New Mexico Constitution since 
the clause prohibits a municipality from giving something without receiving something in return. 

   
54. Q: Section 3.1.2. requires that the Offeror respond with a geographical area that “Basic Internet 

Access Service” is provided in.  What minimum geographical area is required by the City? 
 A: In accordance with definition of Municipal Limits and Section 3.7.1. of the RFP. 
   
55. Q: The RFP is silent any issues with respects to Federal CALEA requirements.  Does the City plan to 

provide trusted party services? 
 A: CALEA is not required by the RFP.  Offerors must comply with rules and regulations governing 

4.9GHz licensed frequency systems. 
   
56. Q: Does the City required the Offeror to provide trusted party and intercept services? 
 A: Offerors must comply with rules and regulations governing 4.9GHz licensed frequency systems. 
   
57. Q: Does the City assume that the Offeror is a neutral interconnection party and thus not required to 

provide CALEA services? 
 A: Yes -   There is no requirement in the RFP to be accredited by The Commission on Accreditation 

for Law Enforcement Agencies (CALEA).  Offerors must comply with rules and regulations 
governing 4.9GHz licensed frequency systems. 

   
58. Q: Section 3.1.6. states that the Network Operator will not compensate the City for use of valuable 

taxpayer paid for City resources.  However all other franchise agreements require that users of the 
valuable taxpayer paid for City resources, rights of way, etc. must pay between 2 and 4 percent of 
their annual income.  How does the City view this as “Fair Dealing”.  Requiring one user of rights of 
way to not have to pay, while other must pay. 

 A: See the response to Question 5 referencing rights-of-way.  If the provider is in the rights-of-way 
they will enter into a franchise agreement with comparable consideration provided. 
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59. Q: In order to comply with the RFP requirements (Section 3.7.4. and 3.7.5.) the Network Operator will 
cause direct damage to private sector wireless networks located within the buildings.  How does 
the City plan to address the significant negative and costly impact that the Network Operator will 
cause small businesses in the Albuquerque area? 

 A: Unknown, interference issues to be handled on a case-by-case basis. 
   
60. Q: Does the City plan to indemnify the Network Operator against any claims from those private parties 

that are impacted by the question above? 
 A: No. It is not clear what damage the vendor is referring to. 
   
61. Q: The City appears to be singling out a single vendor for the equipment based on proprietary 

technical specifications and protocols.  Why is the City forcing a single vendor of the hardware? 
 A: There is no intent in the RFP to select a vendor of hardware.  The Offeror must provide the 

reliability requirements in accordance with Section 3.12.5. of the RFP. 
   
62. Q: The City has requested a performance bond for this proposal. At the same time, the City requires 

this project be executed at no cost to the City; hence, there is no cost incurrence of liability 
associated with the project for the City. As such, and in accordance with Federal standards and 
guidelines, there is some question regarding the legality of requiring a bond in this instance, given 
that any awarded bidder will go out of pocket tens of millions of dollars, with no expectation of cost 
burden sharing by the City. Can you clarify for our legal group specifically what the City intends to 
cover in terms of liability with the performance bond? 
 

 A: If the awarded Contractor were to start but not finish the buildout of the Network, there would be 
the risk incurred by the City of having to either remove what they'd put in or complete the buildout, 
meanwhile having lost the opportunity of going with some other entity that would have completed 
performance.  Similar provisions were established for the cable provider agreement on the need 
for it to perform even though there was no cost to the City. 

   
 
 
Questions about this addendum or the original RFP may be submitted in writing to: 
 
Suzanne Boehland 
Email: sboehland@cabq.gov 
Fax: (505) 768-3355 
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